A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. In Mr. Rodriguez's trial on a charge of second degree 

assault by strangulation, his right to a unanimous verdict was 

violated. 

2. The evidence of assault by strangulation was insufficient. 

3. The trial court erred in admitting the complainant Ms. 

Hendon's hearsay 911 call recording as an excited utterance. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Strangulation requires blockage of breathing or blood flow. 

Ms. Hendon testified she was able to breathe and her blood flow 

was not blocked. Was the evidence of assault by strangulation 

insufficient to convict under Due Process? 

2. The defendant is entitled to a unanimous verdict. The 

State alleged multiple acts but no unanimity instruction was given, 

and there was no election. Was Mr. Rodriguez's right to a 

unanimous verdict violated under State v. Petrich? 

3. The excited utterance rule requires the declarant to be 

under the stress of the event to preclude fabrication. Did the trial 

court abuse its discretion in admitting Ms. Hendon's 911 call 

recording as an excited utterance, where it was inadmissible 

hearsay? 
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c. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Peter Rodriguez was charged with second degree assault by 

strangulation. CP 1-2. Police had received a 911 call from Lori 

Hendon, claiming that Mr. Rodriguez choked her on several 

occasions in the apartment that they shared. CP 3-4 (affidavit of 

probable cause); 12/4/13RP at 212,216 (testimony of Seattle 

Police Officer Mark Body). 

At trial, the complainant Lori Hendon testified that she was 

choked several times on September 15, 2013, by Mr. Rodriguez, a 

man she had been seeing on a regular but on and off dating basis 

for the past 15 years. 12/3/13RP at 123. On September 15, she 

lived in King County in an apartment with her daughter, where Mr. 

Rodriguez stayed with them at times. At 4 a.m., Mr. Rodriguez 

pulled his car into the driveway a little crooked, and appeared at the 

door; Ms. Hendon believed he was likely intoxicated. 12/3/13RP at 

124. 

Hendon claimed that when Mr. Rodriguez arrived and she 

opened the door, he "grabbed her" by the throat or neck -- with one 

hand -- and said once or twice that he "was going to fuck me up." 

12/3/13RP at 124-27. She stated that she went upstairs and then 

Mr. Rodriguez "socked me and choked me there." Then, in the 
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kitchen, she testified, he was making different threats to her. 

Hendon stated that she later woke her sleeping teenage daughter 

and ran down the stairs and out the door. 12/3/13RP at 125-26. 

Hendon claimed that scars on her neck were from where Rodriguez 

grabbed her. 12/3/13RP at 126. 

The jury rejected the defense contention that, at most, the 

lesser included offense of fourth degree assault was merely 

committed, and found Mr. Rodriguez guilty of second degree 

assault by strangulation. CP 26; 12/5/13RP at 347. Following the 

verdict, the defense stipulated to the aggravator of an ongoing 

pattern of domestic violence, which the parties had agreed would 

be bifurcated from the guilt phase. 12/5/13RP at 349-50. Mr. 

Rodriguez was given an exceptional sentence of 25 months 

incarceration on a 15-20 month standard range. 12/20/13RP at 

360-61 . CP 78-88. He appeals. CP 94. 
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D. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING 
MR. RODRIGUEZ'S GREEN MOTION TO 
DISMISS AT THE CLOSE OF THE STATE'S 
CASE, AND THE TRIAL EVIDENCE AS A 
WHOLE WAS INSUFFICIENT. 

a. The State bears the burden of proof. 1 The guarantee of 

Due Process requires that the State bear the burden of proof to a 

jury beyond a reasonable doubt on every essential element of a 

crime charged in the information. U.S. Canst. amend 14; In re 

Winship, 397 U.S. 358,364,90 S.Ct. 1068,25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). 

The State's evidence in the present case was not enough to 

convict. Evidence of a crime at trial is only sufficient if, when 

viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any 

rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime 

beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Canst. amend. 14; Wash. Canst. 

art. I, § 22; State v. Killingsworth, 166 Wn. App. 283, 286-87, 269 

P.3d 1064, review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1007 (2012); Jackson v. 

1 Following the close of the State's case, Mr. Rodriguez sought dismissal 
of the charge of second degree assault by strangulation pursuant to State v. 
Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). 12/4/13RP at 249-50. Counsel 
argued that there was insufficient evidence to allow a jury to decide that Mr. 
Rodriguez acted to strangle or with intent to strangle Ms. Hendon, because he 
did not completely block her breathing or blood flow and he never intended to do 
so. 12/4/13RP at 249, 251 . The court stated that this was not required and 
denied the motion to dismiss. 12/4/13RP at 252-53. 
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Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 311, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); 

In re Winship, 397 U.S. at 365-66. That standard is not met here 

and Mr. Rodriguez's second degree assault conviction should be 

reversed. 

b. The evidence was insufficient. Here, there was 

insufficient evidence for a jury to find Mr. Rodriguez guilty of assault 

by strangulation. Pursuant to RCW 9A.36.021 (g), the instructions 

of law required the jury to find that on September 15, 2013, the 

defendant intentionally assaulted Lori Hendon by strangulation. CP 

63-65. The instructions defined strangulation as follows: 

Strangulation means to compress a person's neck in 
a manner that obstructs the person's blood flow or 
ability to breathe, or to compress a person's neck with 
the intent to obstruct the person's blood flow or ability 
to breathe. 

CP 63. At trial, Ms. Hendon was asked by the prosecutor if, when 

Mr. Rodriguez squeezed her neck after she opened the apartment 

door as she claimed, she was unable to breathe. Hendon 

answered that by "the grace of God" she was not, and confirmed 

this on cross-examination. 12/3/13RP at 126, 173. Ms. Hendon 

did not faint. 12/3/13RP at 173. 

Mr. Rodriguez argues that this testimony was not enough to 

meet the State's burden of proof. The statute requires obstruction 
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of blood flow or breathing, or intent to create that obstructed 

condition.2 

In looking to the plain language of a statute for its meaning, 

a nontechnical term left undefined in a statute is given its plain and 

ordinary meaning, as defined in a standard dictionary. State v. 

Sullivan, 143 Wn.2d 162, 174-75, 19 P.3d 1012 (2001); State v. 

Athan, 160 Wn.2d 354, 369, 158 P.3d 27 (2007). According to the 

dictionary, obstruct means to "block or close up by an obstacle." 

See www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/obstruct. Similarly, 

Black's law dictionary defines obstruct this way: 

1. To block up; to interpose obstacles; to render 
impassable; to fill with barriers or impediments; as to 
obstruct a road or way. U. S. v. Williams, 23 Fed. 
Cas. 033; Chase v. Oshkosh, 81 Wis. 313, 51 N. W 
5GO, 15 L. R. A. 553, 29 Am. St. Rep. S98; 
Overhouser v. American Cereal Co., 118 Iowa, 417, 
92 N. W 74; Gorham v. Withey, 52 Mich. 50, 17 N. 
W 272. 

2. To impede or hinder; to interpose obstacles or 
impediments, to the hindrance or frustration of some 
act or service; as to obstruct an officer in the 
execution of his duty. Davis v. State, 70 Ga. 722. 

3. As applied to navigable waters, to . ... 

2 The jury later inquired during deliberations if the definition of 
strangulation and the compression required meant that a person strangled a 
person simply by hands around the neck or any type of assault around the neck. 
CP 74. 
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See http://thelawdictionary.org/obstruct (Black's Law Dictionary). 

As counsel argued, Mr. Rodriguez did not obstruct or act 

with intent to obstruct Ms. Hendon's breathing, and even any 

knowledge that his conduct (which he disputes) would make it 

difficult for her to breathe is inadequate to pass the second degree 

assault charge to the jury. The trial court reasoned that obstruct 

means only to impede or partially block, but impede means to block 

from passing. See also Staats v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 757, 787,991 

P.2d 615 (2000) (Talmadge, J., dissenting) ("The word 'obstruct' 

means 'to be or come in the way of: hinder from passing, action, or 

operation: IMPEDE, RETARD.' Webster's Third New International 

Dictionary 1559 (1986)"). 

c. Dismissal is required if there is any ambiguity. 

Dismissal is required on the basis of the plain language of the 

statute. Alternatively, the statute defining second degree assault by 

strangulation is at least ambiguous as to this question. The 

definitional section applicable to Title 9A, at RCW 9A.04.11 0, 

subsection (26), defines "strangulation" as follows: 

"Strangulation" means to compress a person's neck, 
thereby obstructing the person's blood flow or ability 
to breathe, or doing so with the intent to obstruct the 
person's blood flow or ability to breathe. 
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RCW 9A.04.11 0(26). "A statute is ambiguous if its language is 

susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation." State v. 

Bunker, 144 Wn. App. 407, 415,183 P.3d 1086 (2008), affd, 169 

Wn.2d 571 (2010). 

Here, the word "obstruct" could be deemed ambiguous. If a 

statute's language is ambiguous, courts look "to principles of 

statutory construction and legislative history to discern the 

legislature's intent." State v. Wofford, 148 Wn. App. 870, 877, 201 

P.3d 389 (2009). Here, the Legislature has indicated that it 

intended to punish potentially lethal conduct. In looking to the 

legislative history, in adding the "assaults another by strangulation" 

subsection to RCW 9A.36.021, the Legislature stated that 

"[s]trangulation is one of the most lethal forms of domestic 

violence." Laws 2007 ch. 79 § 1. This indicates that the 

Legislature intended to punish actually strangling, which is a lethal 

action or intent. 

Finally, the Rule of Lenity would also apply. If it remains 

ambiguous whether the "obstruct" requirement of the statute 

requires complete blocking, then the Rule of Lenity requires that the 

statute be interpreted as requiring the more severe conduct before 

conviction can result. Absent Legislative history indicating 
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otherwise, an appellate court should apply the Rule of Lenity, under 

which any ambiguity must be resolved against the State and in 

favor of the defendant. See United States v. Enmons, 410 U.S. 

396,411,93 S. Ct. 1007,35 L. Ed. 2d 379 (1973) (criminal statutes 

"must be strictly construed, and any ambiguity must be resolved in 

favor of lenity"); State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 600-01, 115 P.3d 

281 (2005) (same). 

Mr. Rodriguez's conviction is not supported by sufficient 

evidence; the conviction should be reversed and the charge 

dismissed. U.S. Const. amend. 14. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GIVING 
A PETRICH INSTRUCTION OR REQUIRING 
AN ELECTION, VIOLATING MR. 
RODRIGUEZ'S RIGHT TO UNANIMITY 
UNDER THE WASHINGTON 
CONSTITUTION. 

a. The evidence showed allegations of discrete acts of 

assault, requiring an election or a Petrich instruction. Ms. 

Hendon testified that Mr. Rodriguez put his hand or hands on her 

neck several different times. 12/3/13RP at 172. According to her 

allegations this first occurred at the door of the apartment when he 

arrived. 12/3/13RP at 124. Ms. Hendon stated that she had 

cooked for Mr. Rodriguez, and she tried to calm him down and get 
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him to eat something. 12/3/13RP at 125-26. However, this did not 

work, and Ms. Hendon proceeded upstairs. She stated that Mr. 

Rodriguez then "choked" her when she was upstairs. 12/13/13RP 

at 129. Ms. Hendon also stated that Mr. Rodriguez put his hands 

on her throat when the two of them were in the kitchen. 12/3/13RP 

at 130. 

Although these events occurred in the same home during an 

episode that night, they were discrete incidents. In these 

circumstances, a Petrich unanimity instruction was requested, and 

was required. 12/5/13RP at 301. 

The state constitution guarantees an expressly unanimous 

verdict. A jury must unanimously agree on the act that underlies a 

conviction. State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566,569-70,683 P.2d 173 

(1984). Where multiple facts are presented that might prove the 

crime, the trial court should instruct the jury that its verdict must be 

based on a unanimous finding as to the fact satisfying the criminal 

allegation, which must be found by agreement of all 12 jurors, 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Wash. Const. art. 1, § 21 and 22; 

Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 572; State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 

756 P.2d 105 (1988) (citing Petrich). 
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Here, no unanimity instruction was given in Mr. Rodriguez's 

case. The defense requested a unanimity instruction or an election 

by the prosecutor, both to ensure that the jury did not rely on any 

past allegations concerning a recent assault a week earlier, and to 

ensure unanimity as to guilt on the charge involving September 15. 

12/4/13RP at 284, 291; 12/5/13RP at 301,305. 

In determining whether there are adequate assurances of 

unanimity, the reviewing court considers the whole record of trial, 

including the evidence, information, argument and instructions. 

State v. Bland, 71 Wn. App. 345, 351-52, 860 P.2d 1046 (1993); 

State v. Corbett, 158 Wn. App. 576,593,242 P.3d 52 (2010). 

These were discrete incidents, and not a continuing course 

of conduct as the trial court ruled. 12/5/13RP at 342-43. The 

Petrich rule does not apply where the evidence indicates a 

"continuing course of conduct." Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 571. Acts 

are considered a continuing course of conduct when they occur 

within a short time frame and are an ongoing enterprise with a 

single objective. State v. Gooden, 51 Wn. App. 615,619-20, 754 

P.2d 1000 (1988). To determine whether criminal conduct 

constitutes a continuing course of conduct, the facts must be 

evaluated in a commonsense manner. State v. Handran, 113 
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Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989) (citing Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 

571). Under this analysis, there were separate allegations of 

assault. Importantly, here, even though these allegations of assault 

occurred in a contemporaneous time frame on the date in question, 

they were individual assaults, as alleged by Ms. Hendon. See. e.g., 

State v. King, 75 Wn. App. 899, 878 P.2d 466 (1994), review 

denied, 125 Wn.2d 1021 (1995) (unanimity error where jury could 

have deliberated, following lack of jury unanimity instruction, to find 

the defendant passenger possessed cocaine found in the car, or in 

his backpack). 

A Petrich instruction was required. 

c. The Petrich error was not harmless. A Petrich error is 

constitutional, and is presumed to be prejudicial. In Petrich cases, 

sufficiency of the evidence on the claims does not render the error 

constitutionally harmless. Rather, the presumption of reversible 

prejudice can be overcome only 

if no rational juror could have a reasonable doubt 
as to anyone of the incidents alleged. 

(Emphasis added.) Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 411 (clarifying Petrich 

constitutional harmless error analysis) (citing State v. Loehner, 42 
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Wn. App. 408, 411-12, 711 P.2d 377 (1985) (Scholfield, A.C.J., 

concurring), review denied, 105 Wn.2d 1011 (1986)). 

Here, the evidence below was controverted as to at least 

one or more of the alleged assaults. Crucially, a central defense 

theme was that Ms. Hendon had originally alleged merely one 

instance of choking. 12/5/13RP at 328-30 (defense closing 

argument). Ms. Hendon alleged a singular assault by choking 

during the 911 call. See Supp. CP _, Sub # 24 (trial exhibit 13-

911 DVD); Supp. CP _, Sub # 25 (pretrial exhibit 4 - 911 

transcript). Yet at trial, she alleged at least one more assaultive 

incident, and cross-examination of Ms. Hendon and at least one 

police witness controverted whether this alleged instance was 

claimed at the time or ever occurred . Ms. Hendon admitted that her 

police report contained only an allegation of one instance of alleged 

choking. 12/3/13RP at 170-72; Supp. CP _, Sub # 24 (trial 

exhibit 14 - Hendon witness statement). Further, Officer Douglas 

Beard indicated that he did not report multiple instances of alleged 

strangulation in his report and Hendon did not tell him she was 

strangled on a second or third occasion. 12/3/13RP at 199; Supp. 

CP _, Sub # 23 (trial exhibit 15 - Beard police statement). 
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Affirmance in the face of a Petrich error requires the Court of 

Appeals to be able to conclude that the jury could unanimously 

come to only one conclusion: that each of Ms. Hendon's assault 

allegations was incontrovertibly proved. Only in such instance 

would the Petrich error be harmless. For example, in Kitchen, 

the prosecution placed testimony and 
circumstantial proof of multiple acts in evidence. 
There was conflicting testimony as to each of 
those acts and a rational juror could have 
entertained reasonable doubt as to whether one 
or more of them actually occurred. 

Kitchen, at 412. Because the trial evidence in Mr. Rodriguez's case 

conflicted as to whether one, or more, of the alleged assaults 

occurred, this Court should reverse as did the Kitchen Court. See 

also State v. Brooks, 77 Wn. App. 516, 892 P.2d 1099 (1995) 

(reversal required where evidence that defendant burglarized one 

of the buildings alleged as a basis for the conviction was 

controverted). Reversal is required. 

3. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS 
DISCRETION IN ADMITTING THE 911 TAPE. 

a. The trial court admitted a recording of Ms. Hendon's 

911 call. The trial court admitted a DVD recording of Lori Hendon's 

911 call in which she alleged that Mr. Rodriguez had assaulted her. 

See Supp. CP _, Sub # 24 (trial exhibit 13 - 911 DVD); Supp. CP 
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_, Sub # 25 (pretrial exhibit 4 - 911 transcript). Mr. Rodriguez 

objected to admission of the recording on hearsay grounds, but the 

State argued and the trial court ruled that it met the requirements 

for admission as an excited utterance. 12/3/13RP at 137. 

The 911 call was accordingly played for the jury during trial. 

12/3/13RP at 148. 

b. The 911 call was hearsay and inadmissible. The basic 

definition of hearsay is set forth in ER 801(c): 

"Hearsay" is a statement, other than one made by the 
declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, 
offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter 
asserted. 

ER 801(c). ER 802 states "[h]earsay is not admissible except as 

provided by these rules, by other court rules, or by statute." 

However, under the ER 803(a)(2) exception employed by the 

court in Mr. Rodriguez's case, a court may admit into evidence a 

witness' testimony repeating another person's statement where that 

statement is 

relating to a startling event or condition made while 
the declarant was under the stress of excitement 
caused by the event or condition. 
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ER 803(a}(2}. This is the "excited utterance" exception to the 

hearsay rule. State v. Chapin, 118 Wn.2d 681,686,826 P.2d 194 

(1992). 

The basic theory is that a genuinely "excited" utterance is so 

spontaneous that it is highly unlikely to be a fabrication. The key 

determination is whether the statement was made while the 

declarant was still under the influence of the event to the extent that 

statement could not be the result of fabrication, intervening actions, 

or the exercise of choice or judgment. See State v. Owens, 78 Wn. 

App. 897, 899, 899 P.2d 833 (1995). Here, there was no showing 

that Ms. Hendon was under the continuing stress of excitement 

caused by the alleged assault when she called 911. State v. 

Owens, 78 Wn. App. at 899. 

The stress and excitement experienced by the out of court 

declarant must exist from the time of the startling event and at the 

time of the statement. Here, Ms. Hendon had left the home and 

gone to a nearby restaurant, from which she called 911. 12/3/13RP 

at 148-49. She did not ask for medical help on the call. 12/3/13RP 

at 150. Instead, she made allegations of crime. 12/3/13RP at 150 

(UI wanted to make sure he was arrested."). 
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The circumstances in the hearsay hearing showed time for 

reflection, and the audio evidence did not show the excitement that 

is necessary to overcome the hearsay bar. See Supp. CP _, 

Sub # 24 (trial exhibit 13 - 911 DVD); Supp. CP _, Sub # 25 

(pretrial exhibit 4 - 911 transcript). 

In fact, Ms. Hendon admitted on voir dire that she smoked 

cigarettes and was out of breath from her departure from the house 

when she made the 911 call. 12/3/13RP at 127-28,149. 

Further, Ms. Hendon admitted that she worked for 

Therapeutic Health Services with the courts and was very familiar 

with domestic violence reporting . 12/3/13RP at 168-69. There was 

a defense concern that she fabricated the allegations against Mr. 

Rodriguez, and the time passing after the alleged event and before 

the 911 call allowed time for that thought process. 12/5/13RP at 

329, 332. The 911 telephone call recording was not an excited 

utterance and was inadmissible based on an inadequate level of 

upset or any other indices of reliability. See State v. Dixon, 37 Wn. 

App. 867, 684 P.2d 725 (1984) ([i]f [the victim's] statement to the 

police were to be admissible as an excited utterance simply 

because she was "upset", virtually any statement given by a crime

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