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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE WORD "OBSTRUCT" IN THE 
STRANGULATION STATUTE DOES NOT 
REQUIRE TOTAL BLOCKAGE OF THE AIRWAY. 

Rodriguez contends that there was insufficient evidence to 

prove that he strangled Hendon because he interprets the word 

"obstruct" in the strangulation statute to require a total sealing of a 

person's airway. He is incorrect. The plain meaning of the word 

"obstruct," as well as the strangulation statute's legislative history and 

the canons of statutory construction, all dictate that the word means 

to hinder or impede one's ability to breathe and does not require total 

blockage. Even if this Court adopts Rodriguez' interpretation, there 

was sufficient evidence to establish that Rodriguez compressed 

Hendon's neck with the intent to totally block her breathing. 
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Rodriguez assigns error to both the sufficiency of the evidence 

supporting the jury's verdict, and the trial court's denial of his motion 

to dismiss for lack of sufficient evidence at the close of the State's 

case. He is procedurally barred from the latter challenge. "When a 

defendant presents evidence in his or her behalf after the trial court 

has denied the defendant's motion to dismiss a charge because of 

insufficient evidence, the defendant waives his or her right to 

challenge the sufficiency of the evidence presented by the State." 

State v. Chavez, 65 Wn. App. 602, 605, 829 P.2d 1118 (1992). In 

such a case, he may only proceed on a challenge to the sufficiency of 

the evidence as a whole, including the evidence he presented on his 

own behalf. .!.Q.. 

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution requires the State to prove every 

element of a charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. In re 

Winship, 397 U.S. 358,364,90 S. Ct. 1068,25 L. Ed. 2d 368 

(1970); State v. Alvarez, 128 Wn.2d 1, 13,904 P.2d 754 (1995) . 

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in a light 

most favorable to the State, it permits a rational trier of fact to find 

the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. 

State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004). 
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A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's 

evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn 

therefrom in the light most favorable to the State. kL 

Circumstantial and direct evidence carry equal weight when 

reviewed by an appellate court. kL A reviewing court must defer to 

the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of 

witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. 

Mehrabian, 175 Wn. App. 678, 699, 308 P.3d 660, review denied, 

178 Wn.2d 1022 (2013). 

RCW 9A.36.021 (1 )(g) states that "[a] person is guilty of 

assault in the second degree if he or she . . . [a]ssaults another by 

strangulation or suffocation." Under RCW 9A.04.11 0(26), 

'''strangulation' means to compress a person's neck, thereby 

obstructing the person's blood flow or ability to breathe, or doing so 

with the intent to obstruct the person's blood flow or ability to 

breathe." The term "obstruct" is not defined in the statute. 

a. The Word "Obstruct" Does Not Require 
Complete Closure Of The Throat. 

Rodriguez' claim hinges on the meaning of the word 

"obstruct" in RCW 9A.04.11 0(26). Questions of statutory 

interpretation are reviewed de novo. State v. Bunker, 169 Wn.2d 
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571, 578,238 P.3d 487 (2010). When interpreting a statute, the 

court's "primary objective is to 'ascertain and give effect to the 

intent of the Legislature.'" State v. Kintz, 169 Wn.2d 537, 547,238 

P.3d 470 (2010) (internal citations omitted). Statutory interpretation 

begins by first examining a statute's plain meaning. State v. 

Hirschfelder, 170 Wn.2d 536, 543, 242 P.3d 876 (2010). '''[I]f the 

statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give 

effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent.'" 

& (quoting Oep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 

1, 9-10,43 P.3d 4 (2002)). 

"To determine the plain meaning of a statute, we look to the 

text, as well as 'the context of the statute in which that provision is 

found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole.'" 

State v. Jones, 172 Wn.2d 236,242,257 P.3d 616 (2011) (quoting 

Campbell, 146 Wn.2d at 9-10)). Statutes "must be construed as a 

whole, considering all provisions in relation to one another and 

harmonizing all rather than rendering any superfluous." Bunker, 

169 Wn.2d at 578 (internal quotations omitted). 

"An undefined statutory term should be given its usual and 

ordinary meaning." Christensen v. Ellsworth, 162 Wn.2d 365, 373, 

173 P.3d 228 (2007). A court "may discern the plain meaning of 
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nontechnical statutory terms from their dictionary definitions." 

Kintz, 169 Wn.2d at 547. "If necessary, it is also appropriate to rely 

on the thesaurus when interpreting statutes." liL. If the plain 

meaning of the statute is subject to only one interpretation, the 

inquiry ends. State v. Marohl, 170 Wn.2d 691, 698, 246 P .3d 177 

(2010). "If the statutory language is susceptible to more than one 

reasonable interpretation, then a court may resort to statutory 

construction, legislative history, and relevant case law for assistance 

in discerning legislative intent." Christensen, 162 Wn.2d at 373. 

Only if a criminal statute is still deemed ambiguous does the rule of 

lenity apply. Kintz, 169 Wn.2d at 548. 

The plain language of RCW 9A.04.11 0(26) shows 

unambiguously that the word "obstruct" means to impede or hinder, 

not to block completely. The word "obstruct" is not defined in the 

strangulation statute. Although he cites the dictionary definition of 

"obstruct," Rodriguez isolates a single fragment to limit its meaning 

to "block up or close up." App. Sr. at 6. However, the relevant 

portions of that definition, cited in its entirety, read as follows: 

1 : to block up: stop up or close up : place an obstacle in or 
fill with obstacles or impediments to passing <veins -ed by 
clots> 2 : to be or come in the way of : hinder from passing, 
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action or operation: IMPEDE, RETARD <constant 
interruptions -ed our progress> ... syn see HINDER 

Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1559 (1993). 

As Webster's states plainly, the word "obstruct" does not 

mean to close up completely. Nowhere does the definition require 

a completely sealed passage. Even if Rodriguez were to read that 

requirement into the word "block," its use in subsection (1) of the 

obstruction definition describes a positive obstacle being inserted 

internally into a passageway ("stop up ... place an obstacle in or 

fill with obstacles"), which clearly does not apply to the external act 

of strangulation. Rather, it is the second clause of the definition 

("hinder from passing, action or operation: IMPEDE, RETARD") that 

corresponds with the act of strangulation. "Obstruct" therefore 

means to hinder or impede.3 

3 This conclusion is further bolstered by Webster's definition of the word "block," 
cited in relevant part below, which nowhere requires complete closure: 

1 a : to render (as a way) unsuitable for passage or progress by 
obstruction ... c : to obstruct the passage, progress, or accomplishment 
of (someone or something) esp. by a positive obstacle ... e : to prevent 
normal function of (a bodily element) ... <- a nerve with novocaine> ... 
syn see HINDER." 

14. at 236. Subsection (c) is inapplicable because no positive obstacle is 
introduced in the act of strangulation. "Block," therefore, in the context of a 
compression of the neck, would mean "to render [one's airway] unsuitable for 
passage" or "to prevent normal function (of a bodily element)," such as breathing. 
This is consistent with the definition of obstruct as to hinder or impede. 
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Nor does Webster's accord with Rodriguez' narrow definition 

of the word "impede" as "to block from passing," instead defining it 

as: "to interfere with or get in the way of the progress of <storms 

impeded the vessels> ... : hold up : BLOCK <his progress was 

impeded by sickness and poverty> ... syn see HINDER." ~ at 

1132. As its plain language suggests, "impede" in the context of 

the strangulation statute means to interfere with or hold up the 

progress of something - in this case, the ability to breathe. 

This in turn corresponds with the definition of "hinder," which 

is repeatedly referenced as the common root synonym for all of the 

definitions cited above: "1 : to do harm to : IMPAIR, DAMAGE ... 

2 : to make slow or difficult the course or progress of: RETARD, 

HAMPER ... <was greatly -ed in his efforts by bad weather> ... " 

Webster's 1 070. "Hinder," as used most appropriately in the 

context of 9A.04.11 0(26), means only to "do harm to," "impair," or 

"make slow or difficult the course or progress of' breathing, not to 

prevent it completely. 

In sum, the ordinary, plain meaning of "obstruct" is to prevent 

the normal function of, impede or interfere with, or hinder or make 

slow or difficult the progress of breathing. Nowhere is there a 

requirement of complete closure. If the legislature had intended to 
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define strangulation as the total inability to breathe or a complete 

blockage, as suggested by Rodriguez, it would have used those 

words. A court may not "add[] words or clauses to an unambiguous 

statute when the legislature has chosen not to include that 

language." Kintz, 169 Wn.2d at 549-50. 

The rejection of Rodriguez' narrow definition is further 

supported after analyzing the word in "the context of the statute in 

which [the] provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory 

scheme as a whole." Jones, 172 Wn.2d at 242. In 2011, the 

legislature amended RCW 9A.36.021 (g), the strangulation provision 

of the assault in the second degree statute, to include "[a]ssaulting 

another by strangulation or suffocation." Substitute H.B. 1188, 62nd 

Leg., Reg. Sess. (2011) (emphasis added). The legislature further 

defined "suffocation" under RCW 9A.04.11 0(28) as follows: "to 

block or impair a person's intake of air at the nose and mouth, 

whether by smothering or other means, with the intent to obstruct 

the person's ability to breathe." (emphasis added). 

This word selection is significant. The fact that the 

legislature chose to use three different words ("block," "impair," and 

"obstruct") in its definition of "suffocation" demonstrates its keen 

awareness of the distinction between those three terms and its 
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intent for them to mean different things. Since the words are used 

in contrast with one another to denote different concepts, it is 

instructive to refer back to the definition of the common root 

synonym of "hinder," which draws critical distinctions between the 

words "obstruct" and "block" when they are used opposite one 

another: 

syn IMPEDE, OBSTRUCT, BLOCK, BAR, DAM: HINDER 
indicates a checking or holding back from acting, moving, or 
starting, often with harmful or annoying delay or interference 
... OBSTRUCT indicates hindering free and easy passage 
by obstacles in the way or by interference . .. BLOCK 
indicates complete obstruction to egress, passage, or exit 
... IMPEDE suggests checking motion or progress by or as 
if by clogging or fettering so that forward activity is difficult. 

Webster's 1070 (emphasis added). The above language clarifies 

first that, vis-a-vis the other terms, "obstruct" means "hindering free 

and easy passage," not total blockage. Second, the fact that 

Webster's describes the term "block" as "complete obstruction" 

compared to the word "obstruct" proves that "obstruct," on its own, 

must therefore mean an incomplete blockage. 

Had the legislature meant the word "obstruct" to mean 

"completely obstruct" in either RCW 9A.04.11 0(26) or (27), it could 

have done so. Rodriguez' attempt to prove otherwise flies in the 

face of the court's directive that "[s]tatutes must be read together to 
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achieve a harmonious total statutory scheme maintaining the 

integrity of the respective statutes." Jones, 172 Wn.2d at 243. 

Reading the statute in this manner avoids absurd results. "It 

is fundamental that in construing any statute we avoid absurd 

results." Lowy v. PeaceHealth, 174 Wn.2d 769,779,280 P.3d 

1078 (2012). If this Court accepted Rodriguez' interpretation of the 

word "obstruct," then a person could be guilty of felony assault for 

compressing someone's neck and completely obstructing her ability 

to breathe for only a single second, while someone who 

compressed another's neck and almost completely cut off her 

oxygen for ten minutes would not be guilty of strangulation. The 

legislature could not have intended this result. 

However, even if this Court decides that a plain reading of 

the word "obstruct" is ambiguous and susceptible to more than one 

reasonable interpretation, Rodriguez' definition still fails under 

canons of statutory construction, legislative history, and relevant 

caselaw. Employing those next steps in analysis, it is clear that the 

legislature intended "obstruct" to mean to impede or hinder, not to 

totally cut off. As discussed supra, the legislature's adoption of the 

suffocation statute in 2011 indicates its intent to give "obstruct" a 

different meaning from "block"/"complete obstruction." A court "may 
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refer to a statute's subsequent history to clarify an ambiguous 

statute's original intent." Bunker, 169 Wn.2d at 581 . 

Rodriguez also misinterprets the legislature's intent when it 

added strangulation as a method of committing assault in the 

second degree in 2007. Laws of 2007, ch. 79, S.B. 5953, § 2. He 

seizes upon the legislature's characterization of strangulation as 

"one of the most lethal forms of domestic violence" as evidence that 

they intended "to punish actually strangling, which is a lethal action 

or intent." Laws of 2007, ch. 79, S.B. 5953, § 14; App. Br. 8. This 

proposition is incorrect for two reasons. 

First, Rodriguez cannot establish how the legislature's single 

use of the word "lethal" means that they only intended to punish a 

total closing of the throat as opposed to the impairment of one's 

ability to breathe. Both are obviously dangerous and damaging to 

one's health and safety. The legislature's formal declaration of 

intent accompanying the strangulation provision acknowledges this 

reality, citing several reasons for its adoption of the amendment, 

including strangulation's "particular cruelty" and "its potential effects 

upon a victim both physically and psychologically." Laws of 2007, 

ch. 79, S.B. 5953, § 1 (emphasis added). The statement of intent 

4 This legislative finding can be found under the "Historical and Statutory Notes" 
in RCW 9A.36.021 as "Finding -- 2007 c 79." 
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further broadly describes the possible consequences of 

strangulation as "loss of consciousness, injury or even death." kL. 

These statements indicate the legislature's intent to punish acts 

that cause a broad array of damage and do not require a "lethal" 

cutting off of the ability to breathe. This makes sense, given that an 

appropriate charge (murder) already exists for a total and lethal 

sealing of the throat. 

Second, Rodriguez' characterization of legislative intent 

ignores the fact that the legislature enacted two ways to commit 

strangulation: compression of the neck resulting in obstruction of 

the ability to breathe, and compression without actual obstruction 

accompanied only by the intent to do so. If the legislature's sole 

concern was lethality, it would not have penalized conduct in which 

no obstruction of the throat ever even occurs. Furthermore, if 

Rodriguez implies that the legislature meant to penalize only 

compression plus "lethal intent," i.e., intent to totally close the 

throat, he again ignores the fact that this conduct already 

constitutes an existing crime (attempted murder). 

Rodriguez requests that this Court apply the rule of lenity in 

favor of his interpretation. However, the rule of lenity only applies 

when a statute is ambiguous. Given the plain and unambiguous 
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meaning of the word "obstruct" in both the strangulation statute and 

its related provisions, and the clear legislative history, this Court 

should reject Rodriguez' request to add language requiring total 

blockage of the ability to breathe. 

b. There Was Sufficient Evidence That 
Rodriguez Impeded Or Hindered Hendon's 
Ability To Breathe. 

Using the correct definition of the word "obstruct," there was 

considerable evidence that Rodriguez compressed Hendon's neck 

and thereby obstructed her ability to breathe. Hendon testified that 

Rodriguez strangled her at least twice; when asked if she could 

breathe during the first strangulation at the door, she answered, "No, 

not really; with the grace of God." RP 126. She also said that she 

had a "hard time breathing" during his second act of strangulation in 

the kitchen, testifying that "[i]t sure did" disrupt her breathing at that 

time. RP 131. During cross-examination, she reiterated twice that 

during each of the strangulation episodes, she was only able to 

breathe "[t]hrough the grace of God." RP 173. 

Hendon further testified that the strangulation caused pain in 

her neck and that her "throat was hurting very bad." RP 128, 150.

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